

CORRECTIONAL SERVICE CANADA

CHANGING LIVES, PROTECTING CANADIANS.



Appearance of the Correctional Service of Canada before the Standing Committee on Health (HESA)

BRIEFING ON THE CANADIAN RESPONSE TO THE OUTBREAK OF THE CORONAVIRUS

JUNE 15, 2020 FROM 12:00 P.M.TO 3:00 P.M.



Table of Contents

- 1. Opening Remarks
- 2. Key Facts and Figures on COVID-19
- 3. CSC's Hot Issues
 - 3.1 COVID-19 Planning for Federal Corrections
 - 3.2 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
 - 3.3 Incident in Quebec
 - 3.4 Safe Release of Inmates
 - 3.5 Overrepresentation of Indigenous and Black Offenders
 - 3.6 Prison Needle Exchange program
- 4. Committee Overview

1. Opening Remarks

Speaking Notes for

Anne Kelly Commissioner Correctional Service of Canada

For an appearance before the
Standing Committee on Health (HESA)
June 15, 2020
Check against delivery

- Good Afternoon Mr. Chair and members of the committee.
- Thank you for inviting me here today. I appreciate the opportunity to update you on the measures taken by the Correctional Service of Canada in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
- I would like to start with a **brief update** on the current status of COVID-19 cases in our institutions before continuing with an overview of CSC's testing approach, lessons learned, and plans moving forward.
- Mr. Chair, I am very pleased to be able to report that, thanks to the tireless efforts of staff, and due to the exceptional measures taken, we only have <u>one</u> remaining active COVID-19 case among inmates across our 43 institutions.
- Since the pandemic began, we have had outbreaks in five of our 43 institutions, with 360 inmates testing positive out of a total of 13,900 inmates; 357 or 99% have fully recovered; one inmate from the Federal Training Centre in Quebec remains in hospital, but not in the Intensive Care Unit; and, we have had two deaths.
- Of the five outbreaks, four have fully resolved. Our last outbreak at the Federal Training Centre in Quebec will be declared over this week, on June 16, if there are no new cases.
- Among CSC staff, out of 142 of our employees who have tested positive to date, 132 or 93% have fully recovered.
- I want to take this opportunity to recognize the extraordinary efforts made by our employees for their ongoing work under these exceptional and challenging circumstances.
- From the outset of the pandemic, the Correctional Service of Canada took a
 proactive approach, guided by public health authorities, and working closely with
 our union partners, to ensure the health and safety of staff and offenders in all of
 our institutions.
- When the pandemic was declared, we focused heavily on preventing the
 introduction of the virus in our institutions by quickly suspending visits from the
 public; temporary absences, except when medically necessary; work releases; and
 interregional transfers.
 - Once the virus was introduced into a facility, the goal became the prevention of its spread, and included measures such as:
 - Strengthening infection and prevention control measures and cleaning/disinfecting protocols
 - Actively screening all staff at the front entrance

- Moving to unit-based staffing, to prevent staff rotation throughout the institutions
- Training staff and providing them with masks and eye protection
- Limiting the movement of inmates, and adapting practices to support physical distancing
- o Conducting daily wellness checks for signs of symptomatic inmates
- o Immediately testing for Covid-19 anyone reporting symptoms
- Medically isolating for 14 days inmates with symptoms, or who had tested positive for the virus, or who were being admitted to federal custody
- Working with local public health authorities to ensure inmates' access to local hospital care, if required, and finally
- Implementing our **own tracing capability** by training over 200 of our employees
- In addition, CORCAN, which is a Special Operating Agency of CSC providing employment to inmates, has reconfigured its shops and, to date, has produced over 150,000 disposable masks, 35,000 washable masks and 6,500 disposable gowns.
- When the outbreak occurred at Mission Institution in BC, CSC worked with its public health colleagues and had reviews conducted at that institution. One review was conducted by Fraser Health authority, and the second was conducted jointly by a PHAC Infection Prevention and Control expert, and an OSH expert from Health Canada.
- CSC then worked with PHAC and local health departments and community experts to have independent, expert-led reviews completed in all of its facilities.
- To date, all 43 of CSC's institutions have had an Infection Prevention and Control, or an Environmental Health review completed.
- There is recognition in the reviews completed to date that Covid-19 is difficult to contain
 in closed environments and the consistent acknowledgement of the strong frontline
 leadership and the commitment of staff to preventing and containing the spread of
 the virus.
- There is also a reminder of the importance of
 - training staff on donning and doffing PPE;
 - having strong cleaning and disinfecting practices, such as strategic placement of hand sanitizing stations; and
 - o limiting the movement of staff and inmates to prevent spread
- None of the findings are insurmountable but they will require continued focus and new investments to be sustainable in the months, and possibly years, to come. Work is currently underway to ensure CSC is well positioned moving forward.
- Now I would like to speak briefly about the steps we have taken to rapidly identify and contain Covid-19 and our "Testing Strategy".

- First, Health care staff actively screen and monitor all inmates for Covid-19 symptoms.
- As previously mentioned, CSC medically isolates for 14 days:
 - inmates who are **newly admitted** to CSC or **returning** to CSC as a result of a suspension or revocation of their release
 - o inmates who have symptoms or have tested positive, until medically cleared
 - any close contacts of an inmate who has tested positive, or has symptoms of COVID-19.
 - inmates who are released to the community from an institution where there is an outbreak
- CSC physicians use the PHAC recommended approach to medically clear inmates, meaning the recovery period is a minimum of 10 days, of which 2 days must be symptom free.
- With respect to staff, any employee who is symptomatic or has tested positive must self-isolate for a minimum of 10 days, including two consecutive days symptom free.
 Any close contacts of a staff member that has tested positive must also self-isolate.
- Currently, CSC tests symptomatic inmates and staff, completes contact tracing, and offers testing to those in close contact.
- CSC also tests inmates and staff who are at risk of contracting Covid-19 when there is an outbreak. For any positive test, contact tracing is completed and testing offered.
- Moving forward, CSC will offer testing based on its recently revised comprehensive and expanded testing strategy. The strategy is responsive to CSC's closed environment, is well received by the Unions, and exceeds most, if not all, provincial testing strategies.
- In addition to the testing currently completed, the expanded testing strategy includes:
 - Testing of all inmates at time of admission or return to federal custody. This
 is in addition to the 14 day medical isolation that will continue. CSC will offer the
 testing at around day 10 so it can have the results of the test prior to placing the
 inmate in general population.
 - Testing of all inmates prior to their release to the community. The timing of the
 testing may vary depending on the jurisdiction and how quickly the test results
 can be made available. Positive results will be reported to the local public health
 authorities, and a plan jointly developed.
 - We are expanding the testing of staff and inmates in institutions located in areas where the **rate of community transmission is elevated** (i.e. where there are 10 cases or more per week per 100,000 population), which is called "asymptomatic surveillance".

- For any positive tests, contact tracing would be completed and testing offered.
 The testing would be offered again over several weeks or months as long as the institutions remain in the "hot zones".
- There are **currently 5 areas in the Quebec region** that have high rates of community transmission. There are seven institutions located within those five "hot zones". Of note, testing has been offered to all staff working in the institutions in the Laval area.
- One interesting fact is that when CSC has done mass testing at outbreak sites, 43.5% of inmates with positive test results reported being asymptomatic on daily wellness checks and at the time of testing. Since this time, health staff have reinterviewed many of these inmates and a significant percentage have subsequently disclosed that they were symptomatic but chose to not disclose their symptoms, and the symptoms were so mild that health care staff were not able to identify them without the inmate's disclosure during wellness checks. The plan going forward is to re-interview all asymptomatic COVID-19 positive inmates.
- CSC currently has sufficient capacity to test all symptomatic inmates, which it is currently doing. However, the expanded testing capacity outlined today can only be achieved through partnerships, as this level of testing requires significant medical and material resources, which CSC does not have.
- CSC has already begun reaching out to health partners to increase its capacity through MOUs with public health authorities as well as contracts with private labs, such as Dynacare. The strategy will be implemented in a phased approach over the next several weeks or months as MOUs and contracts are finalized. As soon as negotiations for access to lab capacity are completed, CSC will start offering testing to inmates upon admission and or release.
- In order to prevent and contain the spread of COVID-19 in the months to come, especially as CSC starts easing some of the restrictions it imposed, the expanded testing strategy will be of critical importance.
- Although the institutions were never closed, measures were taken to prevent and contain the spread of the virus; visits were suspended and programming was curtailed.
- To shape our "new" normal and look at lifting any restrictions, I have put in place a
 governance structure made up of subject matter experts, union representatives and
 senior managers from different sectors of CSC, including regional representatives.
 External representatives are also involved including Citizen Advisory and criminal
 justice partners.
- This approach allows us to examine what needs to resume and when, the safeguards that need to be put in place, and how that would roll out. Our approach will be gradual, likely vary across different regions, and take into account public health advice.
- As a first step, we will be looking at reinstating small group programming for inmates at some institutions, as this is key to their successful rehabilitation and to public

safety.

- In conclusion, as I say often, there is no greater responsibility than having the care and custody of other human beings. As Commissioner, I appreciate the work of our staff, partners, stakeholders, and volunteers for their amazing efforts during these unprecedented times.
- **Thank you**, Mr. Chair and members of the committee, for providing me with the opportunity to appear before you today. I would be happy to respond to any questions you may have.

Notes d'allocution pour

Anne Kelly Commissaire Service correctionnel du Canada

À l'occasion de sa comparution devant le Comité permanent de la santé 15 juin 2020 Priorité au discours prononcé

- Monsieur le Président, membres du Comité, bon après-midi.
- Je vous remercie de votre invitation. Je suis heureuse d'avoir l'occasion de vous présenter une mise à jour sur les mesures prises par le Service correctionnel du Canada en réponse à la pandémie de COVID-19.
- J'aimerais commencer par vous donner une brève mise à jour de la situation actuelle liée aux cas de COVID-19 dans nos établissements, suivi d'un aperçu de l'approche de dépistage du SCC, des leçons apprises et des plans du Service pour l'avenir.
- Monsieur le Président, je suis très heureuse de signaler que, grâce aux efforts inlassables de notre personnel et aux mesures exceptionnelles mises en place, il ne reste qu'<u>un</u> seul cas actif de COVID-19 parmi les détenus dans nos 43 établissements.
- Depuis le début de la pandémie, il y a eu des éclosions dans cinq de nos 43 établissements. Parmi les 13 900 détenus, 360 détenus ont été déclarés positifs; 357 ou 99 % sont pleinement rétablis; un détenu du Centre fédéral de formation au Québec se trouve toujours à l'hôpital, mais pas aux soins intensifs; et nous avons enregistré deux décès.
- Parmi les cinq éclosions, quatre sont totalement réglées. Notre dernière éclosion au Centre fédéral de formation au Québec sera déclarée terminée cette semaine, soit le 16 juin, s'il n'y a aucun nouveau cas.
- En ce qui concerne le **personnel du SCC**, parmi les 142 employés déclarés positifs à ce jour, 132 ou **93** % sont pleinement rétablis.
- J'aimerais profiter de l'occasion pour souligner les efforts extraordinaires déployés par nos employés et leur travail continu dans ces circonstances exceptionnelles et difficiles.
- Depuis le début de la pandémie, le Service correctionnel du Canada a adopté une approche proactive, s'inspirant des directives des autorités de santé publique et travaillant étroitement avec ses partenaires syndicaux, afin d'assurer la santé et la sécurité du personnel et des détenus dans tous ses établissements.
- Lorsque la pandémie a été déclarée, nous avons concentré nos efforts principalement sur la prévention de l'introduction du virus dans nos établissements en procédant rapidement à la suspension des visites du public, des permissions de sortir, sauf celles nécessaires pour des raisons médicales, des placements à l'extérieur et des transfèrements interrégionaux.
 - Une fois que le virus s'est introduit dans un établissement, l'objectif est devenu la **prévention de sa propagation**, ce qui a exigé la prise de mesures, dont :
 - Renforcer les mesures de prévention et de contrôle des infections et les protocoles de nettoyage/désinfection

- Soumettre à une vérification active tous les membres du personnel à l'entrée principale
- Passer à une dotation par unité, afin de prévenir la rotation du personnel dans l'ensemble des établissements
- o Former le personnel et lui fournir des masques et une protection oculaire
- Limiter les déplacements des détenus, et adapter les pratiques pour permettre l'éloignement physique
- Effectuer des vérifications quotidiennes de l'état de santé pour identifier les détenus symptomatiques
- Administrer immédiatement un test de dépistage de la COVID-19 à toute personne qui signale des symptômes
- Placer les détenus qui présentent des symptômes, ont été déclarés positifs au virus ou sont admis dans un établissement fédéral en isolement médical pendant 14 jours
- Travailler avec les autorités locales de santé publique pour garantir l'accès des détenus aux soins hospitaliers locaux, si nécessaire
- Mettre en œuvre notre propre capacité de recherche des contacts en formant plus de 200 de nos employés
- En outre, CORCAN, un organisme spécial du SCC qui offre des emplois aux détenus, a reconfiguré ses ateliers et, à ce jour, a produit plus de 150 000 masques jetables, 35 000 masques lavables et 6 500 blouses jetables.
- Lorsque l'éclosion est survenue à l'Établissement de Mission en Colombie-Britannique, le SCC a travaillé avec ses collègues de la santé publique et a ordonné la tenue d'examens à cet établissement. L'un des examens a été mené par la Fraser Health Authority, et le deuxième a été mené conjointement par un expert en prévention et contrôle des infections de l'ASPC et un expert en santé et sécurité au travail de Santé Canada.
- Le SCC a ensuite collaboré avec l'ASPC, les services sanitaires locaux et des experts de la collectivité pour assurer la tenue d'examens indépendants, sous la direction d'experts, dans toutes ses installations.
- À ce jour, tous les 43 établissements du SCC ont fait l'objet d'un examen des mesures de prévention et de contrôle des infections ou d'un examen de santé environnementale.
- Les examens achevés à ce jour ont permis de reconnaître que la COVID-19 est difficile à contenir dans des environnements fermés ainsi que le leadership de première ligne solide et l'engagement du personnel à prévenir et à contenir la propagation du virus.
- Ils rappellent également l'importance de :
 - o former le personnel sur les pratiques d'enfilage et d'enlèvement de l'EPI;
 - mettre en place de solides pratiques de nettoyage et de désinfection, comme le placement stratégique de postes de lavage des mains;
 - limiter les déplacements du personnel et des détenus pour prévenir la propagation.

- Aucune des conclusions n'est insurmontable, mais elles nécessiteront une attention continue et de nouveaux investissements pour être durables dans les mois, et possiblement les années, à venir. Des travaux sont actuellement en cours pour veiller à ce que le SCC soit bien positionné pour aller de l'avant.
- J'aimerais maintenant décrire brièvement les mesures qui ont été prises pour déceler la présence de la COVID-19 et la contenir rapidement ainsi que notre « stratégie de dépistage ».
- D'abord, le personnel des soins de santé soumet tous les détenus à une surveillance et un dépistage actifs des symptômes de la COVID-19.
- Comme je l'ai déjà mentionné, le SCC place en isolement médical, pendant 14 jours :
 - les détenus qui sont nouvellement admis ou sont réincarcérés dans un établissement du SCC en raison de la suspension ou de la révocation de leur mise en liberté
 - les détenus qui présentent des symptômes ou ont été déclarés positifs, jusqu'à ce qu'ils reçoivent une autorisation médicale
 - toute personne ayant été en contact étroit avec un détenu déclaré positif ou présentant des symptômes de la COVID-19
 - les détenus qui sont mis en liberté dans la collectivité depuis un établissement où il y a une éclosion
- Les détenus obtiennent une **autorisation médicale** des médecins du SCC conformément à l'approche recommandée par l'ASPC, la période de rétablissement étant d'au moins 10 jours, dont 2 jours sans symptômes.
- En ce qui concerne le personnel, tout employé symptomatique ou déclaré positif doit s'isoler pendant au moins 10 jours, dont deux jours consécutifs sans symptômes. Toute personne ayant été en contact étroit avec un membre du personnel déclaré positif doit également s'isoler.
- À l'heure actuelle, le SCC administre des tests aux détenus et aux membres du personnel **symptomatiques**, effectue la recherche des contacts et offre des tests aux personnes ayant été en contact étroit avec un cas positif.
- Le SCC administre également des tests aux détenus et aux membres du personnel qui sont à risque de contracter la COVID-19 en cas d'éclosion. En cas de résultats positifs, la recherche des contacts est effectuée et des tests sont offerts.
- À l'avenir, le SCC offrira des tests en fonction de sa stratégie de dépistage exhaustive et élargie qui a récemment été révisée. La stratégie est adaptée à l'environnement fermé du SCC, est bien accueillie par les syndicats et dépasse la plupart, sinon la totalité, des stratégies de dépistage provinciales.
- En plus du dépistage qui est actuellement effectué, la stratégie de dépistage élargie prévoit :

- L'administration de tests de dépistage à tous les détenus au moment de leur admission ou de leur réincarcération dans un établissement correctionnel fédéral. Cette mesure s'ajoute à l'isolement médical de 14 jours qui se poursuivra. Le SCC offrira le test de dépistage vers le dixième jour afin que l'on connaisse le résultat avant de placer le détenu dans la population générale.
- L'administration de tests de dépistage à tous les détenus **avant leur mise en liberté** dans la collectivité. Le moment où les tests seront administrés pourrait
 varier en fonction de l'autorité responsable et de la rapidité avec laquelle les
 résultats des tests peuvent être obtenus. Les résultats positifs seront
 communiqués aux autorités locales de santé publique et un plan sera élaboré
 conjointement.
- Nous étendons le dépistage aux membres du personnel et aux détenus des établissements situés dans des zones où le taux de transmission communautaire est élevé (c'est-à-dire où l'on rapporte au moins dix cas par semaine pour cent mille habitants), ce qui est appelé la « surveillance asymptomatique ».
- En cas de résultats positifs, on effectuerait la recherche des contacts et on offrirait des tests de dépistage. De nouveaux tests de dépistage seraient offerts sur plusieurs semaines, voire plusieurs mois, tant que les établissements se trouvent dans les « zones à risque ».
- On dénombre à l'heure actuelle cinq zones dans la région du Québec qui ont des taux élevés de transmission communautaire. Sept de nos établissements sont situés dans ces cinq « zones à risque ». Je tiens à souligner que des tests de dépistage ont été offerts à tous les membres du personnel travaillant dans les établissements de la région de Laval.
- Il vaut la peine de mentionner que, lorsque le Service a administré des tests de dépistage en masse aux établissements où il y avait une éclosion, 43,5 % des détenus ayant obtenu des résultats positifs avaient déclaré être asymptomatiques lors des vérifications quotidiennes de l'état de santé et au moment de l'administration des tests. Depuis ce temps, le personnel des soins de santé a interrogé de nouveau plusieurs de ces détenus et bon nombre d'entre eux ont par la suite révélé qu'ils présentaient des symptômes, mais qu'ils avaient choisi de ne pas en faire part au personnel; ces symptômes étaient si légers que le personnel des soins de santé n'a pas pu les identifier sans que les détenus ne l'en informent pendant les vérifications quotidiennes de l'état de santé. À l'avenir, nous prévoyons interroger de nouveau tous les détenus asymptomatiques déclarés positifs à la COVID-19.
- Le SCC dispose actuellement d'une capacité de dépistage suffisante pour administrer des tests à tous les détenus symptomatiques, ce qu'il fait présentement. Toutefois, la capacité de dépistage élargie présentée aujourd'hui peut seulement être réalisée à l'aide de partenariats, puisque ce niveau de dépistage nécessite d'importantes ressources médicales et matérielles, des ressources dont le SCC ne dispose pas.
- Le Service a déjà commencé à prendre contact avec les partenaires de la santé pour accroître sa capacité au moyen de protocoles d'entente conclus avec les autorités de

santé publique, ainsi que de **contrats** avec des laboratoires privés, comme Dynacare. La stratégie sera mise en œuvre selon une **approche progressive** au cours des prochaines semaines ou des prochains mois, à mesure que les protocoles d'entente et les contrats seront finalisés. Dès que les négociations pour l'accès aux laboratoires seront terminées, le Service commencera à offrir des tests de dépistage aux détenus au moment de leur admission et/ou de leur mise en liberté.

- La stratégie de dépistage élargie sera d'une importance capitale pour prévenir et contenir la propagation de la COVID-19 dans les mois à venir, en particulier alors que le Service commence à assouplir certaines des restrictions qu'il a imposées.
- Bien que les établissements n'aient jamais été fermés, des mesures ont été prises pour prévenir et contenir la propagation du virus; on a suspendu les visites et réduit les programmes.
- Dans le but de façonner notre « nouvelle » normalité et de nous pencher sur la levée des restrictions, j'ai mis en place une structure de gouvernance composée d'experts en la matière, de représentants syndicaux et de cadres supérieurs de différents secteurs du SCC, ainsi que de représentants régionaux. Des représentants externes, dont des membres de comités consultatifs de citoyens et des partenaires du système de justice pénale, participent également aux travaux.
- Cette approche nous permet d'examiner les activités qui doivent reprendre et à quel moment, les mesures de protection à mettre en place, et la façon dont nous procéderons. Notre approche sera graduelle, variera sans doute d'une région à l'autre et tiendra compte des conseils de santé publique.
- Dans un premier temps, nous nous pencherons sur le rétablissement des programmes en petits groupes destinés aux détenus dans certains établissements, car ils sont essentiels à la réussite de leur réadaptation et à la sécurité publique.
- En conclusion, comme je le dis souvent, il n'y a pas de plus grande responsabilité que celle d'être chargé des soins et de la garde d'autres êtres humains. En tant que commissaire, je suis reconnaissante du travail de nos employés, de nos partenaires, des intervenants et des bénévoles, qui déploient des efforts extraordinaires durant cette période sans précédent.
- Je vous remercie, Monsieur le Président et membres du Comité, de m'avoir donné l'occasion de comparaître devant vous aujourd'hui. Je serais heureuse de répondre à vos questions.

2. Key Facts and Figures on COVID-19

COVID-19 Cases

Currently, across the country, there is one active case of COVID-19 in one out of the Correctional Service of Canada (CSC)'s 43 institutions. The active case is at the Federal Training Centre, a multi-level security facility in the Quebec Region. There are no identified cases in the Atlantic, Ontario, Pacific or the Prairie Regions.

As of June 10, 2020:

- A total of 1,297 tests have been administrated and 8 tests are pending;
- 360 inmates have tested positive, and 357 or 99% have recovered;
- One inmate from the Federal Training Centre, a multi-level security facility in the Quebec Region, remains in hospital;
- Two inmates died of apparent complications related to COVID-19; and,
- Out of 142 CSC employees who have tested positive, 130 or 92% have recovered.

Release of Inmates

CSC and the Parole Board of Canada (PBC) are working collaboratively to facilitate the safe release of federal inmates into the community with public safety being paramount in all discretionary release decisions. As mandated by the *Corrections and Conditional Release Act* (CCRA), all releases to the community happen within existing authorities.

In response to the pandemic, CSC has been proactively reviewing eligible non-violent lower risk inmates and referring them to the PBC for consideration, including those with underlying medical conditions that make them more vulnerable to COVID-19. As noted by the PBC on their website, they will consider the offender's health or health risk posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, if relevant as part of the risk assessment, along with all other information on file.

On average, 600 offenders are released a month. This occurs, through parole, statutory release, or expiration of sentence.

Since the beginning of March 2020:

- The federal custody population has declined by 743 inmates;
- 629 inmates were released in March 2020, 569 in April 2020 and 600 in May 2020; and,
- From June 1, 2020 to June 7, 2020, 123 inmates were released from federal custody. Of these releases 51 were released on Day Parole, none on Full Parole, 70 on Statutory Release and 2 on other types of releases.

Financial Government Support

On June 9, 2020, the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness, the Honourable Bill Blair, announced the Government of Canada's intention to provide up to \$500,000 to five National Voluntary Organizations (NVOs) for them to develop pilot projects aimed at adapting important services that assist with the reintegration of offenders under supervision at community-based residential facilities (halfway houses), and to develop knowledge to help similar organizations learn from the innovative responses that have been implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Personal Protective Equipment

CSC continue to take exceptional measures to prevent the spread of COVID-19 in all CSC institutions to limit the risk to inmates and staff, including having everyone at sites wear masks.

Between March 30, 2020 and May 15, 2020, CSC has provided various Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) items, including nitrile gloves, masks with face shields, N-95 masks, medical masks, non-medical masks, disposable isolation gowns, washable gowns, thermometers, face shields, disinfectant wipes, protective safety goggles and shoe covers to federal penitentiaries.

3. CSC's Hot Issues

3.1 COVID-19 Planning for Federal Corrections

Overview

 Currently, across the country, there is one active case of COVID-19 in one out of the Correctional Service of Canada (CSC)'s 43 institutions. The active case is at the Federal Training Centre, a multi-level security facility in the Quebec Region. There are no identified cases in the Atlantic, Ontario, Pacific or the Prairie Regions.

- The Correctional Service of Canada is committed to protecting the safety and health of staff, inmates, and the public during these unprecedented times.
- The Service is taking measures to ensure the safety and health of its correctional staff and inmates by following the advice of local Public Health agencies and working very collaboratively with its Union partners.
- Currently, across the country, there is only one remaining active COVID-19 case among inmates across CSC's 43 institutions.
- Since the pandemic began, the Service have had outbreaks in five of its 43 institutions, with 360 inmates testing positive out of a total of 13,900 inmates; 357 or 99% have fully recovered; one inmate from the Federal Training Centre in Quebec remains in hospital, but not in the Intensive Care Unit; and, have had two deaths.
- When the pandemic was declared, the Service focused heavily on preventing the introduction of the virus in its institutions by quickly suspending visits from the public; temporary absences, except when medically necessary; work releases; and interregional transfers.
 - Once the virus was introduced into a facility, the goal became the prevention of its spread, and included measures such as:
 - Strengthening infection and prevention control measures and cleaning/disinfecting protocols
 - Actively screening all staff at the front entrance
 - Moving to unit-based staffing, to prevent staff rotation throughout the institutions
 - Training staff and providing them with masks and eye protection
 - Limiting the movement of inmates, and adapting practices to support physical distancing
 - Conducting daily wellness checks for signs of symptomatic inmates
 - o Immediately testing for Covid-19 anyone reporting symptoms
 - Medically isolating for 14 days inmates with symptoms, or who had tested positive for the virus, or who were being admitted to federal custody

- Working with local public health authorities to ensure inmates' access to local hospital care, if required, and finally
- Implementing our own tracing capability by training over 200 of our employees
- The Service is also:
 - Conducting daily wellness checks for signs of symptomatic inmates
 - Immediately testing for COVID-19 anyone reporting symptoms
 - Expanding health services to a 24/7 capacity.
 - Developed guidance for the effective management of inmates testing positive for COVID-19 (i.e. medical isolation)
 - Working with local health authorities to ensure inmates' access to local hospital care, if required
 - Implementing its own tracing capability by training over 100 of its employees
- Moving forward and in collaboration with Public Health Agency of Canada, the Service is focusing its efforts on:
- Conducting Infection Prevention and Control and environmental health audits in all its institutions
- Ensuring access to the necessary PPE equipment
- Expanding its testing strategy
- Strengthening public health partnerships
- Currently, the service tests symptomatic inmates and staff, completes contact tracing, and offers testing to those in close contact.
- The Service is also testing inmates and staff who are at risk of contracting Covid-19 when there is an outbreak. For any positive test, contact tracing is completed and testing offered.
- Moving forward, the Service will offer testing based on its recently revised comprehensive and expanded testing strategy. The strategy is responsive to CSC's closed environment, is well received by the Unions, and exceeds most, if not all, provincial testing strategies.

3.2 Personal Protective Equipment

Overview

- CSC continue to take exceptional measures to prevent the spread of COVID-19 in all CSC institutions to limit the risk to inmates and staff, including having everyone at sites wear masks.
- Personal protective equipment is being provided and monitored in all institutions to ensure staff safety.

- The Correctional Service of Canada recognizes the risks of COVID-19 and is committed to providing adequate personal protective equipment to ensure the health and safety of its staff and inmates in all institutions.
- The Service has provided various personal protective equipment items, including nitrile gloves, masks, face shields, isolation gowns, protective safety goggles and shoe covers to federal penitentiaries.
- The Correctional Service of Canada has also provided updated guidance to staff on the proper use of personal protective equipment meant to provide the greatest degree of protection and prevention possible for staff and inmates.
- The current inventory of personal protective equipment is being monitored in order to maintain sufficient supply for staff and inmates.
- The safety of staff, inmates and the public remains the Correctional Service of Canada's top priority and the organization will continue to make ethical decisions for the use of personal protective equipment during the pandemic.

3.3 Incident in Quebec

Overview

- A federal offender was initially charged with second-degree murder on January 23, 2020, while on Day Parole, and later amended to first-degree murder to which he pleaded guilty on February 27, 2020. A Joint National Board of Investigation (BOI) was convened to investigate the relevant circumstances of the incident.
- Currently, work on the Joint BOI has been suspended due to COVID-19.

- Our thoughts remain with the family and friends of Ms. Levesque.
- A Board of Investigation, featuring two external co-chairs, has been jointly convened by the Correctional Service of Canada and the Parole Board of Canada to examine the circumstances that led to this tragic event.
- This investigation will review the circumstances in this case and present findings and recommendations, as required.
- Work on the Joint Board of Investigation has been suspended and the report completion date has been postponed until it is safe to resume the investigation, based on public health guidance.
- The Service continues to work with public health authorities to identify when we can safely resume the investigation without risk to participants.
- When it is completed and as promised to Canadians, we will share the results of the investigation as well as any recommendations that will be implemented.

3.4 Safe Release of Inmates

Overview

 In response to the pandemic, CSC has been proactively reviewing eligible non-violent lower risk inmates and referring them to the PBC for consideration, including those with underlying medical conditions that make them more vulnerable to COVID-19. As noted by the PBC on their <u>website</u>, they will consider the offender's health or health risk posed by the COVID-19 pandemic, if relevant as part of the risk assessment, along with all other information on file.

- The Correctional Service of Canada is committed to the health and safety of its employees, offenders and the public and part of this is done through effective release planning by working closely with health care experts and public health, and following protocols to prevent the spread of COVID-19.
- The Correctional Service of Canada and the Parole Board of Canada are working
 collaboratively to facilitate the safe release of federal inmates into the community with
 public safety being paramount in all discretionary release decisions. As mandated by the
 Corrections and Conditional Release Act, all releases to the community happen within
 existing authorities.
- While on release, offenders are seen by their Parole Officers at a level that responds to their risk and needs. Supervision in the community includes meeting with the offenders in a variety of locations, assessing their home/work environments as well as liaising with other community partners and their contacts.
- In response to the pandemic, the Correctional Service of Canada has been
 proactively reviewing eligible non-violent lower risk inmates and referring them to
 the Parole Board of Canada for consideration, including those with underlying
 medical conditions that make them more vulnerable to COVID-19.
- The Government of Canada is also intending to provide up to \$500,000 to five National Voluntary Organizations to develop pilot projects to assist with the reintegration of offenders under supervision at community-based residential facilities (halfway houses). These are important facilities that provide a bridge between the institution and the community.
- The learnings from these pilot projects will help halfway houses continue to deliver effective programs and services to offenders who are eligible for supervised release in the community and keep halfway house residents and surrounding communities safe during emergencies such as COVID-19.

3.5 Overrepresentation of Indigenous and Black Offenders

Overview

- There is an overrepresentation of Indigenous offenders in CSC's Institutions. The Service also recognizes that there are specific needs for other ethnocultural populations, such as Black offenders.
- At the end of fiscal year 2018-2019, Indigenous offenders represented 25.2% of the total offender population; 29.5% of those incarcerated; and 18.7% of those on some form of conditional release.

- Overrepresentation of certain groups in federal custody is a complex issue.
 Sentencing decisions are not made by the Correctional Service of Canada, therefore we don't control the incoming inmate population.
- Once in CSC's custody, culturally responsive services, programming and interventions are provided to address offender risk and aid in their rehabilitation and community reintegration.
- For example, at the end of last year, Indigenous offenders represented 30% of the total offender population. Therefore, providing effective and culturally appropriate correctional and reintegration support for Indigenous offenders has been a CSC corporate priority for more than a decade.
- The Correctional Service of Canada acknowledges that Black offenders are second to the indigenous population in terms of overrepresentation, comprising almost 9 per cent of the total federal offender population.
- For that reason, the Service is currently studying the experiences of ethnocultural offenders, including Black offenders, who are under our care. This is part of our commitment to listen to the lived experiences of racialized offenders to inform how we do our work.
- Additionally, ethnocultural advisory committees ensure that the voices of minority communities are heard while we carry out the important job of keeping Canadians safe.

3.6 Prison Needle Exchange Program

Overview

- As of today, the Prison Needle Exchange Program has been implemented at 11 institutions. There have been no reported injuries or assaults involving staff or inmates associated with operating the Program.
- As of January 2020, there were 33 participants in the PNEP. CSC has been continually engaging with bargaining agents throughout the initiative.

- The Correctional Service of Canada is committed to preventing, controlling, and managing infectious and chronic diseases in correctional facilities to protect the health of inmates, staff, and ultimately the community.
- The Prison Needle Exchange Program provides an opportunity for inmates to access clean needles, taking into account offenders' confidentiality and health, while ensuring the safety and security of other inmates and staff.
- The Correctional Service of Canada approaches the issue from a health care and harm reduction perspective and uses a variety of measures to ensure everyone's health and safety.
- Implementation will continue along with ongoing consultation with partners, with the goal of ensuring that inmates who inject drugs have access to the Program.

4. Committee Overview

Committee Background

A motion was adopted by the House of Commons on March 24, 2020, authorizing, during the period the House stands adjourned, the Chair of the Standing Committee on Health (HESA) and the Chair of the Standing Committee on Finance (FINA) to convene meetings via videoconferencing or teleconferencing.

In response to that motion, Digital Services and Real Property (DSRP) established a multidisciplinary team to support these committees and deliver a solution that would allow Members to participate from remote locations.

They are leveraging the same physical spaces, technological infrastructure and human resources used to support physical meetings on Parliament Hill to support virtual committee meetings. This allows the following requirements to be met:

- Real-time and on-site interpretation services that enable all Members to speak and be heard in both official languages—most legislatures conduct their business in one language, and for them, interpretation services are used only to facilitate access for foreign dignitaries, witnesses, and visitors;
- Accessible services, with closed captioning in French and English;
- Secure meetings that meet Members' expectations of privacy;
- On-site operational support:
- custodial and facility support staff (HoC, Parliamentary Precinct Operations),
- procedural clerks (HoC, Procedural Services),
- technical staff to stage virtual committee meetings, including both pre- and
- post-meeting support (HoC, Digital Services and Real Property),
- research staff (Library of Parliament).

Guide for House of Commons Remote Committee Meetings

- To sign into the meeting: Click the link in the email invitation sent by the committee clerk; Download Zoom if necessary; At the Sign In page, click Sign in with SSO; In the Company domain field, type hoc-cdc-parl; Click continue. Participants may be asked to validate their identity through a second authentication method.
- All participants will be on mute for the duration of the meeting. When a participant's name is announced, they will need to turn on their microphone by clicking the Unmute button.
- To raise a point of order during the meeting, committee members should ensure the microphone is unmuted and say "point of order: to get the Chair's attention.
 Members wishing to intervene in the ensuing discussion should use the Raise Hand feature (explained in the following points.

House of Commons Committee Videoconference Quick Reference Guide

- Mute / Unmute is in the bottom left corner of screen.
- To access Raise Hand button: Click on Participants in the center of the bottom of the screen; Then click Raise Hand.
- In the top right corner of the screen, select Gallery view to display video feeds from all participants on one screen, if desired.

CSC Issues Raised by the Committee

On April 22, 2020, the Standing Committee on Health (HESA) held their eighth meeting regarding their study on the Canadian Response to the Outbreak of the Coronavirus.

During the committee meeting, some issues were raised regarding CSC, such as PPE available to CSC's staff, staffing concerns related to the mandatory 14-day quarantines for staff who may have been exposed to the virus at Port-Cartier Institution, a maximum-security facility in the Quebec Region, and Mission Institution, a medium-security facility in the Pacific Region, mental health supports available to correctional staff and release of offenders.

Highlights of the Hearing Relevant to CSC

In response to questions from MP Thériault (BQ), Jeff Wilkins, National President of UCCO who was appearing as a witness explained that CSC has explained to its staff that an adequate amount of PPE is available, although there is some uncertainty regarding the times when it is appropriate to be used.

Following questions from MP Thériault, Mr. Kelloway (LPC), and MP Davies (NDP), Mr. Wilkins explained that certain institutions, especially Port-Cartier Institution and Mission Institution, are facing staffing concerns. These concerns largely arose from mandatory 14-day quarantines for staff who may have been exposed to the virus. He continued that there were reports that some Mission Institution staff were being called back to work before virus testing results were available—although he continued that he understands this practice has since ceased. Additionally, Mr. Wilkins explained that there were early concerns by staff regarding using sick days to take time off, although that concern has since been addressed following recent Treasury Board Secretariat directives.

MP Sidhu (LPC) asked Mr. Wilkins about the mental health supports that are available to correctional staff. He explained that the Employee Assistance Program and Critical Incident Stress Management Teams are available to staff. He commented that staffing concerns (e.g., prolonged overtime) may lead to future mental health issues.

Mr. Wilkins, in response to questions from MP Paul-Hus (CPC) and MP Davies, explained that current efforts to decrease the population levels in federal institutions will not solve all COVID-19 challenges. He explained that not all offenders can be released and institutions therefore need the power to quickly quarantine people with the virus, to expand the use of PPE, and to regularly clean institutions. Mr. Tanguy told MP Davies that he could provide the MP with figures on how many offenders have received earlier releases, at a later date.

Citing recent riots in institutions in other countries, MP Champoux (BQ) asked if CSC has relevant contingency plans in place. Mr. Wilkins explained that CSC does not share such plans with his organization. Following a question from MP Davies wherein he asked if CSC has taken steps to educate offenders on Public Health Agency of Canada recommendations to limit the spread of COVID-19, Mr. Wilkins explained that some institutions are under lockdown to prevent the spread of the virus while others are operating relatively normally.

Committee Membership Profile

Liberal Party of Canada

Name:

Darren Fisher

Other Role(s):

Parl. Sec. Minister of Health

Riding:

Dartmouth-Cole Harbour

Province:

Nova Scotia

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Municipal Councillor

Statements on the Issue:



Na	m	ο.
INC	4 I I I	┖.

Mike Kelloway

Other Role(s):

Nil

Riding:

Cape Breton-Canso

Province:

Nova Scotia

Preferred Language:

English/French

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2019

Past Profession:

Special Project Administrator

Statements on the Issue:

• Showed interest in CSC's staffing concerns related to the mandatory 14-day quarantines for staff who may have been exposed to the virus.



Ron McKinnon

Other Role(s): Chair HESA Chair SHES

Riding:

Coquitlam-Port Coquitlam

Province:

British Columbia

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Computer System Analyst

Statements on the Issue:



Marcus Powlowski

Other Role(s):

Nil

Riding:

Thunder Bay-Rainy River

Province:

Ontario

Preferred Language:

English/French

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2019

Past Profession:

Doctor

Statements on the Issue



Sonia Sidhu

Other Role(s):

Vice-Chair Status of Women

Riding:

Brampton South

Province:

Ontario

Preferred Language:

English/French

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Healthcare professional

Statements on the Issue:

- Shown interest in the outbreak at Mission Institution
- Recently asked a question about the mental health of the correctional staff



Tony Van Bynen

Other Role(s):

Nil

Riding:

Newmarket-Aurora

Province:

Ontario

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2019

Past Profession:

Mayor

Statements on the Issue:



Conservative Party of Canada

Name:

Tamara Jansen

Other Role(s):

Nil

Riding:

Cloverdale-Langley City

Province:

British Columbia

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2019

Past Profession:

Business owner

Statements on the Issue:

Nil



Matt Jeneroux

Other Role(s):

Vice-Chair HESA

Former Vice-Chair Industry, Science and Technology

Riding:

Edmonton Riverbend

Province:

Alberta

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Edmonton Institution for Women

Edmonton Institution

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Member of the Legislative Assembly of Alberta

Statements on the Issue:

• Showed interest in ensuring the current screening measures by CBSA are working



Robert Kitchen

Other Role(s):

Former Vice-Chair Subcommittee on Sports-Related Concussions in Canada of the Standing Committee on Health Former Vice-Chair Veterans Affairs

Riding:

Souris-Moose Mountain

Province:

Saskatchewan

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Chiropractic Doctor

Statements on the Issue:

Len Webber

Other Role(s):

Former Vice-Chair Health

Riding:

Calgary Confederation

Province:

Alberta

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Member of the Legislative Assembly of Alberta

Statements on the Issue:



Bloc Québécois

Name:

Luc Thériault

Other Role(s):

Vice-Chair HESA

Riding:

Montcalm

Province:

Quebec

Preferred Language:

French

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2015

Past Profession:

Philosophy Teacher

Statements on the Issue:

- Inquired about PPE items provided to correctional staff.
- Showed interest in CSC's staffing concerns related to the mandatory 14-day quarantines for staff who may have been exposed to the virus.



New Democratic Party

Name:

Don Davies

Other Role(s):

Vice-Chair Canada-China Legislative Association Riding Vancouver Kingsway

Province:

British Columbia

Preferred Language:

English

CSC Facilities in Riding:

Nil

Year First Elected:

2008

Past Profession:

Legal Services, Director

Statements on the Issue:

- Showed interest in CSC's staffing concerns related to the mandatory 14-day quarantines for staff who may have been exposed to the virus.
- Showed interest in release of offenders due to COVID-19.
- Asked if CSC has taken steps to educate offenders on Public Health Agency of Canada recommendations to limit the spread of COVID-19

